
 

 

2026 FIFA World Cup – New York State Official Match 
Viewing Experience (Long Island and Hudson Valley) 
 

QUESTIONS & ANSWERS 
 

Release Date: September 5, 2025 

 
The following is a list of responses to questions submitted by prospective respondents to the 2026 FIFA 
World Cup, RFP. A copy of the RFP is available at:   

https://esd.ny.gov/doing-business-ny/requests-proposals/2026-fifa-world-cup-new-york-
state-official-match-viewing  
 

No. Question Answer 

1 

 
Will there be a pre-proposal 
conference for this solicitation? 
 

 

No. A pre-proposal conference is not planned 
for this solicitation. Any questions must be 
submitted in writing in accordance with the 
instructions in the RFP. 

 
  

2 

Will there be a list of interested prime 
vendors?  
Our firm would like to partner with 
someone for this bid (we've submitted 
an email to be on the Interested MBE 
list).  
 
 

ESD does not release a list of interested 
prime vendors.  However, your firm will be 
included on the list of interested MWBE and 
SDVOB entities and that list will be posted 
and made readily available to all potential 
bidders. 

3 

 
Can you let me know which agency is 
the best to contact to be part of the 
FIFA Bus transportation? 

 
 
Not within the scope of this RFP. This 
procurement covers production of two New 
York State viewing events only. 
 
 
 

https://esd.ny.gov/doing-business-ny/requests-proposals/2026-fifa-world-cup-new-york-state-official-match-viewing
https://esd.ny.gov/doing-business-ny/requests-proposals/2026-fifa-world-cup-new-york-state-official-match-viewing


 

 

No. Question Answer 

4 

 

What type of talent do you refer to? What 
would be the talent role? 

 
 

 

Talent may include emcees, DJs, performers, 
or athletes. All talent must be proposed 
through the RFP process and will be subject 
to ESD approval. Proposers should not 
contact talent or their representatives 
independently during procurement. 

 

5 

 

Do you want to include talent fees to the 
budget for MC or celebrity appearances? 

 
 

Include reasonable costs for MC and program 
talent within the per-event cap. Any celebrity 
appearances must be proposed with costs and 
are subject to ESD approval. 
 

6 

 
Does sponsorship need to be part of the 
budget, or will it be a separate budget outside 
of the provided in the RFP? 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Production, operations, and marketing for 
each event must fit within $1.5M per event. 
Sponsor activation delivery is in scope; 
sponsor sales are not. 
 
 
 
 

7 

Are there any sponsors confirmed yet?  

 
 
 

Conversations are ongoing. No sponsors to 
announce at this time. 
 

8 

 
How many sponsor activations do you 
anticipate? 

 
 
 

Propose a scalable plan. Expect several 
sponsor footprints plus State agency 
activations. Final count will be set with ESD. 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

9 

 
Are you working separately on confirming 
sponsors / partners or is it in the agency's 
scope? 

 
 

ESD leads sponsor relationships. The vendor 
delivers on-site activation and fulfillment. 
 

10 

 
What do you envision for the VIP area and 
hospitality services aside from F&B? 

 
 

VIP areas should include secure access, 
seating, shade/cover, premium viewing, food 
and beverage service, and restrooms. VIP 
spaces must also be ADA compliant. Final 
layouts will be reviewed and approved by 
ESD. 

11 
What’s the ticketing cost to access VIP area? 

 

TBD by ESD. Event GA is free; VIP may be 
invite-only or paid. Propose options. 
 

12 
How many VIP guests do you anticipate? 

 

TBD. Propose a flexible plan with capacities 
and per-day ranges. 
 

13 

Do you have a short list of venues or locations 
yet?  
 
Do you need venue ideas in the proposal? 

 

Sites are not named in the RFP. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking and close proximity to public 
transportation. Plans must include 
redundant power, ADA accessibility, 
sustainability measures, broadcast 
connectivity, weather contingency planning, 
and permitting assumptions. Final sites will 
be determined by ESD.  

14 

 

Will the two events be happening at 
the same time, or will they be 
scheduled for different 2-day spans? 

 

We anticipate a staggered schedule, meaning 
different weekends. Final dates will be 
coordinated with ESD scheduling. 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

15 

 

Will we be responsible for obtaining a 
public viewing license from FIFA? 

 

 

ESD will coordinate required permissions 
with FIFA and rights holders for official 
match broadcasts. The vendor is responsible 
only for integrating the official feed on site. 

 

16 

 

Are we allowed to bid as two 
companies working together or would 
you rather everything go through one 
company? 

 

Yes. Submit with one prime contractor and 
identify subcontractors. Any subcontracting 
beyond what is proposed requires State 
approval. 
 

17 

 

Are there any locations of interest or 
will the location scouting start from 
scratch? 

 

Sites are not named in the RFP. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking and close proximity to public 
transportation. Plans must include 
redundant power, ADA accessibility, 
sustainability measures, connectivity, 
weather contingency planning, and 
permitting assumptions. Vendors will be 
responsible for securing necessary local 
permits. Final sites will be determined by 
ESD. 

 

18 

Since the event is free, but attendees 
need tickets, are we fencing the 
location? 
 

Plan for access control appropriate to site 
and capacity. Perimeter controls and 
credentialed entry are expected. 

 

19 

Are we going to be working with a 
private security company and/or 
local/state police? 
 

Yes. Vendor will hire and manage private 
security and coordinate with local and State 
public safety partners. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

20 
 

 
If local/state police, are you expecting 
a line item in the budget for them? 
Since there isn’t a specified location 
yet, the pricing would change based on 
the final location. Would we be able to 
change the estimated price after the 
bid award? 
 

Do not budget for sworn law-enforcement 
personnel. Include private security. Public 
safety agency support will be coordinated 
separately if needed. 

 

21 
Assuming the IP address procurement, 
site build, design and management of 
site are all within scope. 

 

The vendor is responsible for providing an 
easy-to-use ticketing or registration system 
and managing all related site build, design, 
and administration. 

 

22 
 

Will this include the set up of social 
media accounts and management of 
them as well? Are we in any 
way/shape/form inheriting any 
existing digital infrastructure or 
assets? 
 

 

Proposers should plan content for ESD-
approved channels only. New public 
accounts should not be created unless 
specifically requested by ESD. All content 
requires ESD review and approval. 

 

23 

Is there any mandate that requires ALL 
of the vendors and or sponsors to be 
NY based? 
 

There is no requirement that all vendors or 
sponsors be New York–based. However, use 
of New York State businesses is strongly 
encouraged. ESD has established 
participation goals of 30% for MWBE firms 
and 6% for SDVOB firms. Proposers are 
expected to make good-faith efforts toward 
meeting these targets and will be required to 
report on participation if selected. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

24 

Are there any requirements for the 
types of engagements/partnership 
arrangements we are permitted to 
make?  
 
In other words, are we in complete 
control of rental or revenue share 
strategy within the confines of the 
activation or will we be mandated on a 
certain approach within each vertical? 
 

Any monetization, revenue shares, or vendor 
arrangements require ESD approval. Propose 
your approach; ESD will decide and retain 
final authority. 
 

25 

 
Is there a set number of General 
Admission/VIP tickets to be sold 
already in place? 
 
 

Not preset. Propose capacities, ticket 
allocations, and release strategy based on 
site assumptions and safety plan. 
 

26 

 
Is there currently a rough number of 
VIP/GA tickets that the state will 
require? 
 

Not preset. Propose capacities, ticket 
allocations, and release strategy based on 
site assumptions and safety plan. 
 

27 

 
Are we responsible for individual VIP’s 
with individual transportation 
requirements from several locations 
directed by the state? 
 

Vendors should be prepared to 
accommodate individual VIP transportation 
requests as directed by ESD. This may 
include arranging point-to-point service, 
managing credentialed check-ins, and 
coordinating with private security as needed. 
Include unit costs and contingency options in 
your proposal. Plans should remain scalable. 
Final arrangements will be confirmed by 
ESD. 

 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

28 

Are we responsible for setting up mass 
transportation of VIPs from designated 
areas? 
 

If ESD designates group pickup or drop-off 
areas, the vendor will be responsible for 
organizing mass VIP transport from those 
locations. Planning should cover vehicle 
staging, dispatch coordination, and crowd-
flow management to ensure a smooth 
experience. Provide scalable options and 
related cost assumptions. Plans should 
remain scalable. Final arrangements will be 
confirmed by ESD. 

 

29 

 
Are we responsible for securing each 
of these locations and will any of these 
VIP’s require separate security? 
 

Vendors are expected to secure all event 
areas, including VIP zones. In addition, some 
VIPs may require separate security 
arrangements. The vendor should plan for 
layered security, ranging from credentialed 
entry and bag checks to tailored protection 
measures when directed by ESD. Final 
procedures will be set by ESD in consultation 
with security agencies. 

 

30 

Will the sale of alcohol be permitted? 
 
Are we to obtain any day permits for 
alcohol consumption? 
 

Alcohol sales require licensing and will be 
determined at a later date by ESD.  

 

31 

Does the state have a set number of 
KPI’s we are to build from or are they 
looking to us to construct that list in 
full? 
 

 

Proposers should propose clear KPIs for ESD 
review and approval. Examples may include 
attendance, engagement, visitor satisfaction, 
and sustainability metrics. 

 

32 
How often will we be expected to meet 
with State officials? 
 

Expect weekly planning calls during 
development, with increased frequency 
during build and event week. 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

33 

Will there be a set reporting cadence 
directed by the State? If so, what is 
that? 
 

Provide periodic status reports during 
planning and a comprehensive final report 
within 45 days after the last activation. 
 

34 

 
Will the state require back end access 
to all digital infrastructure and data 
platforms? 
 

Plan to provide administrative access to 
ticketing/registration and deliver full 
datasets and analytics needed for reporting. 
All attendee data collected must be provided 
to ESD and may not be retained or used by 
the vendor for unrelated purposes. 
 
 

35 

 
Is there any overall financial 
expectation or ROI goal that the state 
currently has in place for this event? 
 

ESD’s established goals are to deliver public 
value, safe operations, high attendance, 
community engagement, and measurable 
positive economic impact. These targets will 
guide evaluation. Proposers should provide a 
clear ROI framework for ESD review. 

36 

 
Will the state have certain sponsors or 
vendors that they require to have a 
presence on site? 
 

ESD may include statewide partners for 
presence at these events. The vendor will be 
responsible for integrating and fulfilling 
these activations on site. Procurement of 
sponsors is not within the vendor’s scope. 

37 
Will the state have any resources for us 
to utilize for sponsor procurement? 
 

ESD may include statewide partners and can 
provide coordination guidance. Sponsor 
procurement itself is not part of the vendor’s 
scope. 

38 

 
Will the state make available any email 
lists, public facing advertising 
platforms within their control, public 
digital platforms & social media 
accounts for marketing purposes? 
 

ESD may make available approved public-
facing platforms, including I LOVE NY email 
lists, digital advertising channels, and official 
social media accounts. All use must be 
coordinated with and approved by ESD 
Public Affairs. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

39 

 
Will the state make available PR 
representatives, chambers of 
commerce, marketing managers, social 
media coordinators and/or content 
assets to assist in our efforts? 
 

ESD will provide access to its 
communications team and, where 
appropriate, facilitate connections with 
regional partners such as chambers of 
commerce, PR representatives, and 
community organizations. All outreach must 
be coordinated through ESD. 

40 

 

Can you share how you and your team 
were connected to Sequence? 

 

ESD does not comment on vendor 
relationships during an active procurement. 
 

41 

 

Approximately how many agencies do 
you expect will bid on this project? 

 

ESD does not estimate or disclose anticipated 
volume of proposals. 
 

42 

 

For large-scale events like this, we 
would look to collaborate with a 
partner agency that brings sports 
marketing and production expertise to 
amplify what we bring to the table. 
Would ESD be open to that kind of 
partnership, or do you require a single 
agency to participate? 

 

Proposers may submit with one designated 
prime contractor and clearly identified 
subcontractors, in accordance with the RFP 
requirements. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

43 

 

Can you share more detail on the two 
sites in Long Island and the Hudson 
Valley?  

 

Sites are not named in the RFP. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking and close proximity to public 
transportation. Plans must include 
redundant power, ADA accessibility, 
sustainability measures, connectivity, 
weather contingency planning, and 
permitting assumptions. Vendors will be 
responsible for securing necessary local 
permits. Final sites will be determined by 
ESD. 

 

44 

Are venues already 
earmarked/shortlisted, or are 
locations still completely open? 
 
We’re asking so we can better assess 
budget feasibility. 
 

Sites are not named in the RFP. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking and close proximity to public 
transportation. Plans must include 
redundant power, ADA accessibility, 
sustainability measures, connectivity, 
weather contingency planning, and 
permitting assumptions. Vendors will be 
responsible for securing necessary local 
permits. Final sites will be determined by 
ESD. 

 

45 

Is the September 29 proposal deadline 
firm, or is there any flexibility? 

 

No. Proposals are due by 2:00 PM ET on 
September 29, 2025. Late proposals will not 
be accepted. 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

46 

We understand that FIFA has a 
communication concept titled “WE 
ARE NY.” Regarding this guideline: 

a. Should we use this concept as 
the        
central axis of the viewing 
experience in Long Island and 
Hudson Valley? 

 
      b. Are proposers expected to 
propose a       complementary tagline to 
accompany and reinforce “WE ARE 
NY”? 

 
      c. When the RFP refers to 
“conceptual       drop / naming,” does 
this mean creating a new, independent 
concept, or only developing creative 
applications and narratives derived 
from “WE ARE NY”? 

 

Proposers should align creative concepts to 
New York State branding and the official 
FIFA 2026 Host City identity. A 
complementary event naming approach may 
be proposed if it supports those identities. 
All brand and language use will be subject to 
ESD approval and FIFA/Host Committee 
requirements. 

 

47 

 

Are the venues for Long Island and 
Hudson Valley already defined, or are 
we expected to propose them?  

If they are defined, could you share 
preliminary information regarding 
dimensions, existing infrastructure 
(layouts), and accessibility of those 
spaces? 

 

Sites are not named in the RFP. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking and close proximity to public 
transportation. Plans must include 
redundant power, ADA accessibility, 
sustainability measures, connectivity, 
weather contingency planning, and 
permitting assumptions. Vendors will be 
responsible for securing necessary local 
permits. Final sites will be determined by 
ESD. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

48 

 

Will artists, cultural groups, or 
programmatic content already be pre-
defined by New York State or FIFA, or 
is the vendor expected to propose the 
complete programming? 

 

Proposers should propose a full program 
slate for ESD review, with flexibility to 
integrate State, community, and Host 
Committee elements. All programming will 
require ESD approval. 

49 

 

Does the per-event budget cap include 
only onsite production and venue 
costs, or also the marketing and 
promotion campaign? 

 

Yes. All production, operations, and 
marketing must fit within the $1.5M per-
event cap outlined in the RFP. 

50 

 

In the initial proposal, is the vendor 
expected to deliver only mood boards 
and conceptual ideas, or a more 
complete package with renders, 
preliminary layouts, and applied 
examples in stages, signage, 
activations, etc.? 

 

Proposals should include mood boards, 
conceptual layouts, sample signage 
applications, fan-engagement examples, and 
a high-level timeline. Renders are welcome 
but not required. 

51 

 

The RFP mentions the integration of 
local gastronomy into the viewing 
experiences. Could you clarify if you 
expect the vendor to: only design and 
coordinate a gastronomic area for 
selected vendors to participate, or also 
propose a specific gastronomic offer 
(types of food or detailed menus) as 
part of the initial creative proposal? 

 

Proposers should design and coordinate a 
local food and beverage area with a diverse 
vendor mix. Detailed menus are not required 
at the proposal stage, though high-level 
concepts are helpful. All permits and vendor 
compliance are the responsibility of the 
selected vendor. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

52 

 

Will official graphic guidelines (brand 
manual, palettes, typography) for FIFA 
2026 and New York State be provided 
to proposers? 

 

Yes. After award, ESD will provide applicable 
New York State and Host City branding 
guidance. For proposals, align with publicly 
available I LOVE NY and Host City materials 
and avoid use of protected FIFA marks. 

53 

 

How many languages do the materials 

need to be created in? For Wayfinding 

and Signage? 

 

Materials should be produced in English and 
Spanish at minimum. Proposers may 
recommend additional languages based on 
regional demographics and best practices for 
accessibility. Final language set will be 
determined with ESD. 
 

54 

 

Will there be any other official NYS 

viewing experiences outside of these 

two events? 

 

At this time, no additional viewing events are 
confirmed. Proposers should design 
approaches flexible enough to adapt if new 
opportunities are identified. 

55 

 

Does the vendor need to secure World 

Cup broadcasting rights? 

 

No. ESD will coordinate required FIFA 
permissions and broadcast rights for official 
match feeds. The vendor is responsible for 
technical integration and on-site delivery. 
 

56 

 

 

What are the exact locations for each 

event site? 

 

Sites have not been finalized. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking, transit access, redundant power, 
ADA accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingency 
planning. Final sites will be confirmed by 
ESD. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

57 

 

What are the dates for the events, e.g. 

July 18 and 19, 2026? 

 

Final dates have not been set. Events are 
expected to be scheduled on separate 
weekends in July 2026. Proposers should 
plan for flexibility, with exact dates to be 
confirmed by ESD. 

58 
Are the events to take place 

simultaneously over the same weekend? 

No. The two events are expected to occur on 
different weekends. Final scheduling will be 
determined by ESD. 

59 

 

Please confirm that the procurement of 

all rights, permissions, and licenses to 

broadcast or replay any "live" games will 

be managed by the project owner 

(Empire State Development). 

 

Confirmed. ESD will manage the 
procurement of required rights, permissions, 
and licenses for match broadcasts. The 
vendor will be responsible for technical 
integration and presentation. 

60 

 

Please clarify whether "broadcast" refers 

to the presentation of the game via the 

licensed network (cable or streaming), or 

if it implies a custom feed provided by 

the league. 

 

“Broadcast” refers to the official FIFA-
licensed match feed provided through the 
designated network partner. The vendor is 
responsible for integrating this feed into the 
event presentation, including screens, audio, 
and supplemental content. 

61 

Who is responsible for sourcing, 

securing, and contracting sponsors for 

the event? 

 

ESD will lead sponsorship procurement. The 
vendor will be responsible for delivering and 
managing on-site activations and fulfilling 
sponsor requirements. 

62 

Are sponsorship revenues (cash or in-

kind) already included in the proposed 

budget? 

 

No. The $1.5M per-event budget is for 
production, operations, and marketing. 
Sponsorship revenues or services are 
separate and will be coordinated with ESD. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

63 

 

Can sponsorship funds or services be 

used to extend the project’s budget or 

enhance offerings? 

 

Yes. Sponsorship funds or in-kind services 
may be used to expand event offerings or 
offset costs, subject to ESD approval and 
coordination. 

64 

How does ESD define, envision and 

prescribe the implementation of 

"sustainability" during the events? 

Sustainability should include, at a minimum: 
recycling and waste management, energy-
efficient equipment, sourcing from local 
vendors, and minimizing single-use plastics. 
Proposers should also recommend 
measurable sustainability practices 
appropriate to large-scale outdoor events. 
Final sustainability measures will be 
approved by ESD. 

65 

Although not specifically listed in the 

delivery objectives, should it be assumed 

that the event scope includes the 

planning, coordination, and execution of 

food and beverage services for guests? 

This would include, but not be limited to: 

• Food vendors (trucks, tents, concession 

stands) 

• Beer and/or bar service 

• Acquisition of all applicable liquor 

licenses, catering permits, and 

associated insurance and 

indemnification requirements 

 

 

Yes. The production vendor should assume 
responsibility for food and beverage services, 
including vendor coordination, permits, 
liquor licenses, catering insurance, and bar 
service, subject to ESD approval. 
 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

66 

● Beyond "reliable power," please 

clarify which infrastructure 

components are provided.  

●  

For example: 

• Restrooms (full or partial) 

• Trash collection 

• Structures for operations, first 

aid, and security 

 

Please specify the available electrical 

capacity included in the existing "reliable 

power" provision. 

Vendors should assume that no 
infrastructure is provided. Proposers must 
plan for restrooms, trash collection, 
operational structures (first aid, security, and 
staff), staging, fencing, and full redundant 
power capacity. ESD will confirm site-specific 
needs during planning. 
 

67 

 

Does ESD have a public relations or 

marketing agency with whom we will be 

required to work with? 

 

For marketing, we are not looking for a full 
plan at this stage. Vendors should outline 
their capabilities and, if applicable who they 
would partner with to deliver marketing and 
promotions. The selected vendor will 
coordinate closely with ESD’s marketing and 
communications team and any designated 
agencies of record. Specific roles will be 
clarified during project kickoff. 

 
68 

 

Is there a list of proposed vendors—or is 

it within the project scope to market to 

and/or secure vendors? 

 

 If so, is there any particular type of 

vendor desired? 

 

There is no pre-approved vendor list. 
Proposers should be prepared to market to 
and secure a mix of vendors appropriate for 
large-scale public events, including food 
trucks, merchandise sellers, and experiential 
activations. Final vendor selection is subject 
to ESD approval. 
 

69 

 

Are there any types of vendors that are 

NOT desired? 

 

Vendors inconsistent with the family-
friendly, inclusive nature of the event will not 
be permitted. This includes vendors 
promoting tobacco, cannabis, or other 
restricted products. ESD reserves the right to 
review and approve all vendor categories. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

70 

 

Do vendors need to secure permits from 

the selected cities or will ESD secure a 

blanket permit for vending?  

 

The production vendor will be responsible 
for securing all required local permits for 
vending. ESD will assist with state-level 
coordination as needed. 

71 

At what point in time will ESD provide 

the most recent NYS branding 

guidelines?  

 

Branding guidelines will be provided after 
contract award. Proposers should align to 
currently available I LOVE NY and NYS brand 
standards in the proposal phase. 

72 

At what point in time will ESD provide 

the official FIFA World Cup 2026 Host 

City identity? 

 

The Host City identity will be shared once 
available and cleared for use. Vendors should 
plan for integration of this identity into 
creative deliverables in coordination with 
ESD. 

73 

What is the timeline for submission of 

creative/branding concepts? 

 

Creative concepts will be submitted during 
the initial planning phase. A detailed timeline 
will be finalized with the selected vendor, but 
proposers should assume early concept 
review within the first 6–8 weeks of project 
initiation. 

74 

Does ESD intend to participate in 

ideation sessions/workshops?  

 

Yes. ESD intends to participate actively in 
creative ideation and workshops. The 
selected vendor should plan for a 
collaborative process with structured 
sessions involving ESD and key stakeholders. 

75 
What is the activation approval process? 

 

All creative activations must be submitted to 
ESD for review and approval prior to 
production. The vendor should build 
sufficient lead time into the project schedule 
to allow for revisions and approvals. 

76 

 

How does ESD define and envision from 

an experiential perspective, what an 

interactive zone for agency and sponsor 

activations is? 

 

Proposers should recommend a range of 
interactive zones suited to the event 
footprint, such as soccer skills activities, 
family areas, or cultural showcases. ESD will 
review and approve final selections. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

77 

Where are the two event locations?  

 

Are there any proposed locations? 

 

Sites have not been finalized. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking, transit access, redundant power, 
ADA accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingency 
planning. Final sites will be confirmed by 
ESD. 

 

78 

Is it within the project scope to find and 

propose the locations?  

 

Sites have not been finalized. Proposers 
should assume raw outdoor spaces with 
parking, transit access, redundant power, 
ADA accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingency 
planning. Final sites will be confirmed by 
ESD. 

 

79 

 

Can the regional travel demand model or 

current year peak period major road 

traffic volumes, passenger rail and bus 

ridership be provided to the winning 

team to support the site feasibility 

analysis? 

 

Vendors are responsible for planning public 
access, wayfinding, and traffic flow in 
partnership with local authorities. ESD may 
provide relevant transportation or demand 
data at its discretion after award. 

 

80 

Can FIFA recommend potential 

“coaches” for youth soccer clinics? 

 

FIFA will not provide or recommend coaches. 
Proposers should not reach out to FIFA, 
clubs, or community groups at this stage. If 
youth soccer programming is included in 
proposals, it should be presented 
conceptually. ESD will manage all outreach 
and coordination with external partners. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

81 

 

At what level will provisions for safety be 

required?  On-site paramedic presence?  

 

Is it within the project scope to work 

with the local folks to secure those types 

of services? 

 

Yes. The vendor is responsible for providing 
a comprehensive safety plan that includes 
licensed medical staff, on-site paramedics, 
first aid stations, and supporting 
infrastructure. Coordination with local EMS, 
hospitals, and relevant public safety agencies 
is required. All outreach and agreements 
must be managed through ESD to ensure 
alignment with state and local protocols. 

82 

 

Per the media reference in Section 4-C, 

should the “main stage” (or any other 

performance or presentation space) 

include press platforms, media risers, or 

other media-related infrastructure? 

 

 

Yes. Proposers should assume media risers, 
press platforms, and other basic media 
infrastructure for the main stage and any 
designated performance or presentation 
spaces. The final design will be subject to 
ESD approval. 
 

83 
How many VIPs do you anticipate?  

 

Exact numbers are not confirmed. Proposers 
should assume a flexible VIP capacity of 150–
300 per day, scalable based on site and 
programming needs. Final numbers will be 
provided by ESD during planning. 

84 

 

Where will VIPs need transportation to 

and from?  Will dedicated VIP parking 

spaces at the venue be considered?  

 

For these VIP guests, additional 

transportation services are not needed. 

 

Proposers should include dedicated VIP 
parking in site layouts and be prepared to 
scale additional transportation options if 
directed. Final arrangements will be 
determined by ESD. 

 

85 
When will we know who the VIPs are? 

 

VIP guest lists will be shared by ESD closer to 
the event dates. Proposers should design 
flexible credentialing and hospitality systems 
that can accommodate changes up until 
event week. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

86 

 

If we are providing a separate space for 

VIP, does ESD have a sense of how many 

such spaces and/or areas will be 

needed?  

 

In other words, among 10,000-20,000 

visitors on each of the two weekend days 

(according to the RFP), how many will be 

VIPs? 

 

VIP attendance is expected to be a small 
fraction of total visitors. Proposers should 
design one primary VIP space at each site, 
scalable for 150–300 guests. Final counts and 
space requirements will be confirmed by 
ESD. 
 

87 

What type of transportation is expected 

for VIPs? 

 

ESD will determine transportation 
requirements. Proposers should include 
options for individual car service, small 
group shuttles, and dedicated parking. Final 
arrangements will be confirmed by ESD. 

88 
 

 

When will a list of VIPS be provided so 

that coordination of pickups and drop 

offs can be managed? 

 

A list of VIPs will be shared by ESD in 
advance of the events. Proposers should 
create flexible plans that can accommodate 
adjustments up to event week. 

89 

Without providing names, who are OR 

what types of VIPs will be attending the 

events? 

 

VIPs may include elected officials, 
government leaders, sponsors, and invited 
guests. Final profiles and categories will be 
confirmed by ESD. 

90 

 

What is the specific narrative, 

functionality and occupancy requirement 

for the VIP section?  

 

The VIP section should provide secure 
access, comfortable seating, shade/cover, 
premium viewing of the main screen, food 
and beverage service, and dedicated 
restrooms. Proposers should assume 
occupancy of 150–300 guests per day with 
flexible scaling. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

91 

Are there any specific VIP security check 

procedures that the winning team needs 

to follow?  

Or should the winning team propose the 

procedure based upon our previous 

experience? 

 

Proposers should recommend a security 
check process based on best practices for 
large public events, including credentialed 
entry and bag screening. Final procedures 
will be reviewed and approved by ESD in 
consultation with security agencies. 

92 

 

What provisions are envisioned for the 

VIP environment to enhance security in 

those spaces? 

 

VIP areas must be clearly separated from 
general admission, with credentialed entry, 
perimeter security, and staff presence. 
Proposers should plan for layered security 
appropriate to the guest profile. Final 
measures will be confirmed with ESD and 
relevant authorities. 

93 

 

Will ESD provide a list of local preferred 

vendors, or should the selected 

contractor procure? 

 

ESD may share suggested vendors, but the 
selected contractor is responsible for 
procuring and managing all required 
vendors. All final vendor selections are 
subject to ESD approval. 

94 

Are we allowed to charge vendors for 

space? Food trucks? Vendors selling 

products? 

 

Any vendor fees or revenue-sharing models 
must be proposed to and approved by ESD. 
No charges may be implemented without 
ESD authorization. 

95 

 

Does ESD have an agreement to 

reproduce the live events with the 

broadcasters of the events?  

Are there restrictions or specific criteria 

that would prevent non-FIFA sponsors 

from participation in these events? 

 

ESD will manage required agreements for 
official broadcasts. FIFA sponsor guidelines 
and restrictions apply, and certain categories 
may be excluded from participation. All 
sponsor activations must be coordinated 
with and approved by ESD. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

96 

 

Will local, state, and federal authorities 

need to govern and approve the venue 

layout prior to build? 

 

Yes. Venue layouts will require review and 
approval by local authorities, and in some 
cases state or federal agencies. The vendor is 
responsible for coordinating all necessary 
approvals in consultation with ESD. 

97 

 

Beyond the permitting process itself, 

what are the state requirements for 

insurance coverage, liability limits, 

indemnification provisions, and risk 

allocations? Should these be determined 

based on municipal requirements, or 

does Empire State Development have 

separate or additional standards? 

 

Insurance and liability requirements must 
meet New York State procurement 
standards, which may exceed municipal 
requirements. Final coverage levels and 
indemnification provisions will be detailed 
during contracting with ESD. 

98 

 

What level of coordination and direct 

involvement is expected from local 

municipalities for traffic planning and 

management? 

 

The vendor must coordinate directly with 
local municipalities on traffic planning and 
management. ESD will assist in convening 
partners but the vendor is expected to lead 
development of the operational plan. 

99 

 

Will local police or municipal services be 

assigned to assist with labor and onsite 

execution, or should that be included in 

the proposer’s planning? 

 

Public safety agencies may provide support, 
but the vendor should plan for private labor 
and security. All labor must comply with 
New York State requirements, including 
prevailing wage and union standards. Any 
municipal services assigned will be 
coordinated through ESD. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

100 

 

Is there any government agency that 

needs to approve “accessibility” areas 

before the event opens? 

 

Yes. Accessibility provisions must comply 
with ADA standards and may be subject to 
inspection or approval by local building or 
code enforcement authorities. In addition, 
the New York State Office of the Chief 
Disability Officer (CDO) serves as the state’s 
ADA coordinator and lead agency on 
accessibility issues. The vendor is 
responsible for ensuring compliance and 
coordinating with relevant agencies in 
consultation with ESD. 
 

101 

 

Can the previous market analysis reports 

be shared with the winning team?  

 

We would like to better understand the 

assumptions regarding the visitor origins 

on the event date (from the airport, 

from the hotels on Long Island, NYC), or 

from the home, as well as their arrival 

modes (private car, LIRR, taxi/ride 

hailing, city bus and coach bus, etc.) 

 

Proposers should develop their own 
assumptions for the proposal phase. After 
award, ESD may share relevant data to help 
refine planning. Additional analysis will be 
coordinated by ESD. 

 

102 

 

Can we know more about the size and 

the locations of the areas that can be 

potentially considered for passenger car 

parking/ride hailing staging/ bus parking 

and overflow parking?  

 

Is there any restriction in terms of ride 

hailing? 

 

Proposers should assume designated areas 
for parking, ride hailing, and bus staging will 
be required. Exact capacities and restrictions 
will depend on final site selection and must 
be coordinated with local authorities. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

103 

 

Are there any existing social media 

channels we need to manage?  

 

OR is it within the project scope to 

create new social media channels 

dedicated to these events? 

 

Proposers should plan to manage content for 
ESD-approved channels. New public 
accounts should not be created unless 
specifically directed by ESD. 

 

104 

 

In addition to sports fans, e.g. soccer, 

American football and volleyball, are 

there any other specific attendees ESD 

would like to reach? 

 

These are statewide public events. Soccer 
fans are a natural audience, but the World 
Cup is the largest sporting event globally and 
will attract broad interest. Fandom is not a 
prerequisite, these events are for all New 
Yorkers. 

 

105 

 

Does ESD have NYS-branded asset 

elements that have been used in past 

events that are available and that have 

proved effective? 

 

ESD maintains NYS-branded assets from 
prior events that may be adapted for use. 
Proposers should assume that approved 
assets will be provided after award. All usage 
will require ESD approval. 

 

106 

 

Who is responsible for maintaining and 

administering social media assets for 

event advertising before, during, and 

after the event and what platforms are 

required?  

 

Social media content will be developed on an 
as-needed basis by the vendor, subject to 
ESD review and approval. ESD Public Affairs 
will retain administrative control of all 
accounts. 

 

107 

 

How far in advance of the events and 

how long after the events is it within the 

project scope to manage the social 

media channels? 

 

The vendor should be prepared to support 
social media channels in the lead-up to and 
during the events. Exact start and end dates 
for this scope will be determined by ESD. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

108 

 

Does ESD have the intention and an 

agreement to advertise NYS-branded 

segments during the broadcast in 

replacement or alongside FIFA scheduled 

broadcast ads? 

 

ESD has no agreement to insert advertising 
into FIFA broadcasts. Branding will focus on 
on-site event activations and approved 
promotional channels only. 

 

109 

 

Have any sponsors already been 

secured? If so, can ESD identify them and 

provide a count? 

 

Sponsors for these events have not been 
finalized. ESD will identify and confirm 
sponsors after award. 

110 

 

Please confirm that the event scope 

includes the ability to sell goods and 

services to guests, including food and 

beverage, VIP experiences, and event 

merchandise. 

 

Yes. Vendors may sell food, beverage, 
merchandise, and VIP experiences, subject to 
ESD approval. Pricing must reflect fair value 
and accessibility for the public. Excessive 
markups are not permitted. 

 

111 

 

What is the intended use or allocation of 

funds generated through these revenue 

streams? 

 

Any funds generated will be used to offset 
event costs. Allocation of revenue streams 
will be determined by ESD. 

 

112 

 

What level of responsibility is expected 

from the selected vendor(s) in terms of 

planning, operations, payment 

collection, and financial accounting for 

these activities? 

 

The selected vendor will be expected to 
manage planning, operations, collection, and 
financial reporting for approved revenue-
generating activities, subject to oversight by 
ESD. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

113 

 

Is it acceptable to propose a revenue 

share model as part of overall 

compensation?  

 

Based on prior experience with similar 

(though smaller-scale) city festivals, rev-

share has proven to be effective 

incentivisation, particularly when tied to 

F&B, merchandise, and VIP ticket sales. 

 

Revenue share models are not part of this 
procurement. The vendor will be 
compensated through the approved event 
budget.  

114 

 

Who is responsible for the cost to 

produce broadcast advertising or event 

branded content assets? 

 

Broadcast advertising is not in scope. Event-
branded content assets for use on-site and 
through approved channels will be the 
responsibility of the vendor, subject to ESD 
approval. 

 

115 

Who is responsible for the cost to air 

event assets? 

 

Any paid media placement for event-branded 
content will be coordinated by ESD. Vendors 
should budget only for production, unless 
otherwise directed by ESD. 

 

116 

 

Who is responsible for any possible 

ancillary non-broadcast production of 

digital (for local displays), and print 

assets? 

 

 

Vendors are responsible for producing non-
broadcast assets such as local digital displays 
and print materials, consistent with the RFP 
scope. All creative must be reviewed and 
approved by ESD. 

 

117 

Who is responsible for the creation of 

social media assets? 

 

The vendor is responsible for creating social 
media assets, subject to ESD review and 
approval. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

118 

Is there a specific demographic or 

income group this event is targeting?  

 

These events are open and accessible to all 
New Yorkers. There is no specific 
demographic or income target. The World 
Cup draws a global audience, and these 
events are designed to reflect that inclusivity 
and community spirit. 

119 

Can ESD define who the target audience 

is for these events? 

 

The target audience is the general public 
across New York State. These events are 
designed to reach residents and visitors of all 
ages and backgrounds, creating 
opportunities for communities statewide to 
take part in the World Cup experience. 

120 

Who are and how many stakeholders do 

we liaison with? 

 

Proposers should expect to engage with 
multiple stakeholders, including ESD, local 
governments, community groups, and State 
agencies. Exact numbers will be determined 
as planning progresses. 

121 

 

Can ESD provide a list of all stakeholders, 

including local community groups, 

businesses, and government agencies 

involved in the event?  

 

ESD will identify relevant stakeholders, 
including local community groups, 
businesses, and government agencies, during 
the planning process. Proposers should 
assume coordination with multiple partners 
and remain flexible to accommodate 
additions. 

122 
What NYS agencies will be tabling or 

have activations during the events? 

Agency participation is still being finalized. 
Proposers should assume the presence of 
multiple New York State agencies with 
public-facing activations and plan flexible 
layouts to accommodate those spaces. ESD 
will confirm participating agencies with the 
selected vendor. 

123 

 

Will ESD provide a list of all sponsors and 

the level of exposure that has been 

agreed to including the specific media, 

size, duration and location of assets 

expected.  

 

ESD will provide the list of sponsors and 
their activation rights to the selected vendor 
after award. Exposure levels and asset 
requirements will be shared at that stage. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

124 

 

Will the sponsors be designing, 

producing, and providing the print and 

digital asset media? 

 

Sponsors will be responsible for designing 
and producing their own print and digital 
assets. The vendor will coordinate placement 
and integration on site, subject to ESD 
approval. 

 
125 

 

Will the sponsors be responsible for 

tailoring these assets to the resolution of 

various display resolutions? 

 

Sponsors are responsible for adapting their 
assets to required specifications and 
resolutions. The vendor will provide 
technical specifications and ensure 
compliance. 

126 

 

What are the requirements and 

expectations for the New York State 

agencies on tents and footprints as well 

as specific functionality and occupancy 

levels? 

 

Each participating New York State agency 
will have a presence suited to its program. 
Proposers should assume tented footprints 
with space for tabling, engagement activities, 
and visitor interaction. Final size and 
functionality will be coordinated with ESD. 

127 
 

 

Will ESD provide the names of all 

participating agencies? 

 

A final list of participating agencies will be 
provided after award. For the proposal stage, 
assume that multiple state agencies will 
participate. 

128 
Is ESD responsible for security? 

 

The vendor will be responsible for 
contracting private security services. Public 
safety agencies may provide support as 
determined by ESD, but vendors should 
budget for private security as part of their 
proposal. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

129 

 

 

Is the ESD’s intent to have security 

covered by a combination of NYS 

Troopers, local law enforcement and 

private security services? 

 

 Would the EDC hire the private security 

services?   

 

The vendor will be responsible for contracting 

private security services. Public safety agencies 

may provide support as determined by ESD, but 

vendors should budget for private security as 

part of their proposal. 

 

130 

Does ESD want one-person to be the 

main contact person?  

 

ESD will designate a point of contact for the 
vendor team. Day-to-day engagement may 
involve additional ESD staff. 

 
131 

Will ESD provide one-person as the main 

contact person? OR a team? 

 

ESD will designate a point of contact for the 
vendor team. Day-to-day engagement may 
involve additional ESD staff. 

132 

Have specific locations already been 

identified? If so can those locations be 

provided? 

Sites are not finalized. Proposers should 
assume raw outdoor spaces with parking, 
transit access, redundant power, ADA 
accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingencies. 
Access for surveying and load-in schedules 
will be determined once sites are confirmed. 

133 
How large is the raw space in each 

location? 

Sites are not finalized. Proposers should 
assume raw outdoor spaces with parking, 
transit access, redundant power, ADA 
accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingencies. 
Access for surveying and load-in schedules 
will be determined once sites are confirmed. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

134 

 

When do we have access to the raw 
spaces for surveying purposes?  

 

Sites are not finalized. Proposers should 
assume raw outdoor spaces with parking, 
transit access, redundant power, ADA 
accessibility, sustainability measures, 
connectivity, and weather contingencies. 
Access for surveying and load-in schedules 
will be determined once sites are confirmed. 

135 

 

Will the spaces be dedicated to the two 
event dates so the equipment can stay 
the entire time?  

 

Vendors should assume sites will be 
dedicated to the events during the scheduled 
dates, including setup and breakdown. Final 
details will be coordinated by ESD. 

136 
Is there a specific number of VIPs that 

the VIP Area Should Accommodate?   

The VIP area should be scaled within the 
event footprint and included in the $1.5M 
per-event budget. Layouts should assume 
ADA accessibility and balanced design. 
Proposers should suggest concepts within 
those parameters. 

137 

Will the VIP Area be included in the 

$1.5M base budget, or will 

sponsors/VIP ticket sales offset the 

additional costs associated with the 

buildout of this area? 

The VIP area should be scaled within the 
event footprint and included in the $1.5M 
per-event budget. Layouts should assume 
ADA accessibility and balanced design. 
Proposers should suggest concepts within 
those parameters. 

138 

 

Can we assume that the Hospitality in 
the VIP area will be sold (and not 
provided as part of the VIP Ticket)?  

 

Proposers should assume hospitality in the 
VIP area will be sold or provided through 
sponsorship arrangements, subject to ESD 
approval. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

 
139 

 

Broadcast Management: Is securing the 
license for permission from FIFA/ 
Network for public broadcast excluded 
from the $1.5M budget for this event? 

 

Licensing of FIFA broadcast rights is outside 
the vendor scope. Vendors should budget for 
technical presentation only. 

140 

I just completed registering my 
company this past Monday, and I am 
currently attempting to get certified as 
a WMBE owner. Would it still be 
possible to express interest to be 
added as a subcontractor?  
 
And would the ESD team be able to 
help me with my MWBE application? 
 

A firm must have an active New York State 
MBE, WBE, or SDVOB certification to be 
included in the list of available MWBEs and 
SDVOBs interested in serving as a 
subcontractor for this procurement. A firm 

requesting inclusion on this list should send 

contact information and a copy of its NYS 

MWBE or SDVOB certification to 

2026FIFAworldcup@esd.ny.gov. 

 

New York State MWBE certifications are 

managed by the Division of Minority and 

Women's Business Development (DMWBD). 

For assistance with an MWBE application, 

please contact their customer care team at 212-

803-2414, Monday – Friday, 9am-5pm, or send 

an email to MWBECertification@esd.ny.gov. 

 

141 

When do you anticipate awarding this 
contract?  
 
Once awarded, when do you 
anticipate the work starting?  
 
To properly budget staff time for 
strategic planning, event 
design/ideas/ ideation, it would be 
helpful to know whether the work will 
begin in late 2025 or early 2026.  
 

ESD anticipates awarding the contract in late 

2025. Work is expected to begin shortly after 

award, with planning continuing into 2026. 

 

mailto:2026FIFAworldcup@esd.ny.gov
mailto:MWBECertification@esd.ny.gov


 

 

No. Question Answer 

142 

 
Is there a chance the two events 
could happen on the same days, or 
have overlap?  
 

The two events are not expected to take 
place on the same dates. Scheduling will be 
confirmed by ESD. 

143 

 
What scale of VIP are you looking for 
here, and how are you defining VIP?  
 
Do these include celebrities, 
community leaders, and union 
leaders?  
 
From a budgeting perspective, 
understanding the goal of the 
experience and the level needed 
would be helpful. Is this simply a 
dedicated section, or a high-level 
amenity expectation similar to a US 
Open or premium seating at a 
stadium?  
 

VIPs may include government officials, 

community leaders, sponsors, and invited 

guests. The VIP experience is not expected to 

mirror stadium premium seating. Layouts must 

assume ADA accessibility and balance 

inclusivity with dedicated space. Ticketing 

structures will be finalized by ESD. 

 

144 

 
How large would a VIP area be?  
 
Approximate headcount would be 
helpful for budget and scope 
purposes.  
 

VIPs may include government officials, 
community leaders, sponsors, and invited 
guests. The VIP experience is not expected to 
mirror stadium premium seating. Layouts 
must assume ADA accessibility and balance 
inclusivity with dedicated space. Ticketing 
structures will be finalized by ESD. 

145 

 
The RFP says the public tickets will 
be free/no cost, but the VIP ticketing 
would be sold and distributed 
separately.  
 
Could you further explain what the 
VIP ticket cost will get the sponsor 
and dive deeper into Sponsorship 
packages? 
 

VIPs may include government officials, 
community leaders, sponsors, and invited 
guests. The VIP experience is not expected to 
mirror stadium premium seating. Layouts 
should balance accessibility, ADA 
compliance, and dedicated space. Ticketing 
structures will be finalized by ESD. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

146 

 
Will the events be fully outdoor, or will 
indoor/covered options be 
considered? 
 

Events are expected to be outdoor, with full 
weather contingency planning required. 
Proposals should include rain plans and 
infrastructure within the $1.5M budget. 

147 

 
Is a rain-or-shine plan required within 
the vendor’s scope?  
 
Should weather contingencies (e.g., 
tenting, rescheduling, insurance) be 
included in the $1.5M budget per 
event? 
 

Events are expected to be outdoor, with full 
weather contingency planning required. 
Proposals should include rain plans and 
infrastructure within the $1.5M budget. 

148 

Has ESD already selected venues, or 

is the vendor responsible for 

identifying, securing, and budgeting 

for sites within the $1.5M cap per 

event? 

Venues are not preselected. Vendors are 
expected to propose feasible sites within the 
budget cap, subject to ESD approval. 

149 

 
Have ESD and FIFA World Cup 
already negotiated which matches the 
Long Island and Hudson Valley 
events will be tied to? 
 

Specific match assignments for these viewing 
events have not been determined. ESD will 
confirm which matches will be shown. 

150 

 
For the “two, two-day events,” does 
this mean two full days of 
programming (multiple matches per 
day), or does the timeframe include 
load-in/load-out? 
 

i.How many days should we plan for load 
in/load out?  

ii.Are there anticipated hours of the event? 
 

Vendors should plan for two full days of 
public programming, including multiple 
matches. Load-in and load-out schedules 
should be proposed. Event hours will be 
confirmed by ESD. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

151 

 
Will there be a livestream 
conversation with talent at the game 
and our event? Will we have to send 
a crew to the game to coordinate? 
 

No livestream talent elements have been 
confirmed. Proposers may include creative 
options, subject to ESD review. 

  152 
What level of musical performance 
should we plan for in the budget? 
 

Entertainment should be scaled to the event, 
with priority given to local cultural 
programming. 

153 

 
Should food and beverage (general 
concessions and VIP catering) be 
included within the $1.5M per-event 
budget, or will vendors operate on a 
concession/revenue basis? 
 

Food and beverage services may operate on 
a concession basis, subject to permits and 
ESD approval. 

 

154 

 
Should venue rental fees, permitting 
costs, and compliance costs be 
budgeted within the $1.5M cap? 
 

Venue rental, permitting, and compliance 
costs must be included within the $1.5M per-
event budget. 

155 

 
Is paid advertising/media buys 
included in the $1.5M budget, or will 
there be a separate budget for paid 
media promotion? 
 

Paid media is not included in the $1.5M event 
budget. ESD will handle advertising 
separately. 

156 

Will state/local agencies (e.g., DOT, 

MTA, State Police) provide support 

for transportation and security 

planning, or should vendors budget 

for private solutions? 

Public agencies may provide support. 
Vendors should budget for private solutions 
where needed. Permits are the responsibility 
of the vendor, with ESD assisting on state-
level coordination. 

157 

Will ESD assist with permitting and 

agency outreach, or is the vendor 

solely responsible for securing and 

funding all permits? 

Public agencies may provide support. 
Vendors should budget for private solutions 
where needed. Permits are the responsibility 
of the vendor, with ESD assisting on state-
level coordination. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

158 

 
Will the vendor be required to create 
new graphic design/logo elements for 
the viewing events, or should existing 
FIFA and ESD logos be used to 
develop a lockup/brand system? 

 

Vendors should develop branding lockups 
using existing FIFA and ESD marks. 
Approved guidelines will be provided after 
award. 

159 

 

Will approved branding guidelines 

(FIFA host city identity, NYS 

branding, etc.) be provided in 

advance of creative development? 

Vendors should develop branding lockups 
using existing FIFA and ESD marks. 
Approved guidelines will be provided after 
award. 

160 

 
Are there any partnerships that will be 
sourced (already sourced) to sponsor 
pieces of the event to allow for more 
budget for programming for the 
public? 

 

Sponsorships may be sourced by ESD. Final 
details will be shared after award. 

161 

Based on the services we are 
providing, do we feel like the following 
will actually be required? 
 

i.Umbrella/Excess Liability of $3 million 
per occurrence, $6 million aggregate 
 

i.Cyber Liability of $1 million per 
occurrence  
 
Do the prime contractor and 
subcontractor have to each 
individually meet the insurance 
requirements?  
 

 

Insurance requirements are outlined in the RFP. 

Both prime contractors and subcontractors must 

comply. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

162 

 

Will ESD provide any baseline creative 

direction or brand guidelines (beyond 

NYS and FIFA Host City identity), or 

should the vendor propose a full 

thematic look and feel? 

 

Baseline guidelines will be provided by ESD. 
FIFA retains approval rights on certain 
elements. Proposals should assume state 
agencies and cultural partners will be part of 
programming. 

163 

 

Does FIFA have approval rights over 

creative, programming, or sponsor 

activations, or will all approvals run 

solely through ESD? 

 

Baseline guidelines will be provided by ESD. 
FIFA retains approval rights on certain 
elements. Proposals should assume state 
agencies and cultural partners will be part of 
programming. 

164 

 

Are there required elements (e.g., NYS 

agency footprints, cultural showcases, 

specific partners) that must be 

included? 

 

Baseline guidelines will be provided by ESD. 
FIFA retains approval rights on certain 
elements. Proposals should assume state 
agencies and cultural partners will be part of 
programming. 

165 
Can you provide the estimated daily 

operating hours for the event? 

Operating hours will be confirmed by ESD, 
but vendors should assume full-day 
programming aligned with match schedules. 

166 

 

Has ESD identified potential sites in 

Long Island and the Hudson Valley, or 

is the vendor expected to propose and 

secure sites? 

 

Sites are not yet confirmed. Vendors should 
propose feasible options. 

167 

 

Are there size requirements or 

preferred footprint dimensions for the 

event sites? 

 

No fixed dimensions are prescribed. Vendors 
should recommend suitable footprints. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

168 

 

Can you specify any stage 

programming (e.g., remarks, local 

talent) that will impact the required 

size?  

 

Programming details such as stage size 
should inform layouts. Vendors should 
propose assumptions. 

169 

 

Will ESD provide utility access points 

(water/power) at the sites, or is the 

vendor expected to supply all 

temporary services? 

 

Utilities should be assumed temporary, with 
vendors responsible for providing water and 
power unless otherwise directed. 

170 

 

Should temporary facilities (i.e. water 

bottle refill stations, temporary 

restrooms, garbage receptacles, etc) be 

provided in budget? 

 

Vendors should budget for temporary 
facilities including restrooms, water refill 
stations, and waste management. 

 

171 

Are there any restrictions around 

permanent ground disturbance (e.g., 

staking, trenching) in parks? 

Ground disturbance rules vary by site and 
must be coordinated with permitting 
authorities. 

172 

 

Should the vendor also budget for 

security screening systems 

(magnetometers, bag checks) at entry 

points? 

 

Vendors should budget for security 
screening at entry points, such as bag checks 
and magnetometers. 

173 

Will there be dedicated entrances for 

GA, VIP, and staff? 

 

Layouts should include dedicated entrances 
for general admission, VIP, media and staff. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

174 

 

Can tickets be purchased onsite, or will 

registration be online-only? 

 

Registration will be online. VIP areas will be 
ticketed separately. Final ticketing structure 
will be set by ESD. 

175 

How do you envision the VIP areas in 

terms of ticketing and access — will 

they be included as part of a single 

package granting entry to all VIP areas, 

or will access be sold separately for 

each space (e.g., VIP F&B, VIP lounge, 

etc.)? 

Registration will be online. VIP areas will be 

ticketed separately. Final ticketing structure will 

be set by ESD. 

 

176 

re the specific event sites for Long 

Island and Hudson Valley already 

identified by New York State, or are 

respondents expected to propose and 

secure suitable locations as part of 

their proposal? 

Sites are not identified. Vendors should 
propose suitable locations, subject to ESD 
approval. 

 

177 

If we are responsible for site selection, 

what is the approval process and 

timeline for ESD to review and approve 

proposed locations? Will ESD provide a 

list of pre-approved or preferred 

venues? 

ESD will review and approve proposed sites. 
A list of pre-approved venues is not available 
at this stage. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

178 

If no pre-selected sites exist, are there 

any specific parameters or guidance 

we should consider when evaluating 

site feasibility? 

 For example: 

For Hudson Valley: Is there a 

preference for Lower Hudson Valley 

(highest population density), Upper 

Hudson Valley, or Middle Hudson 

Valley regions? • 

 

 For Long Island: Is there a preference 

between Nassau County or Suffolk 

County locations 

 

Regional preferences may be considered, but 
no specific county or sub-region has been 
predetermined. 

 

179 

Given that location will significantly 

impact budget costs (city services, 

permits, potential space lease fees, 

signage packages, infrastructure 

requirements, etc.), can ESD provide 

guidance on expected cost ranges or 

budget allocations for site-related 

expenses? 

Vendors should budget for site-related expenses 

within the $1.5M cap.  

180 

If the selected sites are New York State 

Parks or state-affiliated properties, will 

there be lease fees or usage costs that 

need to be factored into the budget? 

Vendors should budget for site-related 
expenses within the $1.5M cap. If state 
properties are used, lease fees may apply. 

181 

Will the licenses or rights to display 

the official FIFA broadcast feeds be 

provided or do we need to budget for 

these costs? 

Licensing of FIFA feeds is outside vendor 
scope. Vendors should plan for presentation 
infrastructure only. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

182 

Have the dates been determined for 

these experiences?  

 

 

A better understanding of the number 

of matches we need to show is critical 

to building a comprehensive budget 

and well-programmed run of show. 

Event dates will be confirmed by ESD. 
Assume two days of programming including 
match viewing. 

183 

What are ESD's expectations regarding 

the scope and scale of experiential 

programming? 

 Specifically:  

Expected number of hours of 

programming per day beyond match 

viewing?  

Number and types of interactive zones, 

activities, or experiences expected?  

Expected variety of "things to do" for 

attendees during non-match periods? 

Programming should feature interactive 
activities in addition to matches. Vendors 
should propose assumptions. 

184 

What level and types of 

talent/entertainment are expected for 

the events?  

Are we expected to budget for: 3 

Southern Entertainment RFP  

are we expected to select, or will one 

be appointed? 

 (a critical part of a successful event) 

•Culturally diverse musical acts 

•Local/regional performers  

• Celebrity appearances or sports 

personalities 

• Cultural performers and 

demonstrations  

Entertainment should prioritize diverse local 
talent. Celebrity appearances may be 
proposed but are not required. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

185 

Is the VIP experience expected to be 

all-inclusive or à la carte pricing? If all-

inclusive, is there a minimum number 

of VIP tickets that must be sold or 

allocated? 

VIP offerings may be inclusive or à la carte. 
Proposers should suggest models that 
balance access and cost recovery. 

186 

Are vendors expected to provide full 

concession services including alcoholic 

beverages (beer, wine, liquor) and 

non-alcoholic options, or are there 

restrictions on what can be sold at 

these state-sponsored events? 

Vendors may provide full concession 
services, subject to permits. Alcohol sales 
require licensing and will be determined at a 
later date in coordination with ESD. 

187 

While most permits will be through 

local municipalities, can we expect 

support for any state licensing needs 

(i.e. alcohol permits)? 

ESD will coordinate on state licensing where 
required. Vendors remain responsible for 
compliance. 

188 

Is there an expectation of profit-

sharing with New York State on food 

and beverage sales or merchandise 

revenue generated during the events? 

No profit-sharing with ESD is anticipated for 
food, beverage, or merchandise revenue. 

189 

Are there any anticipated or known 

price caps on food and beverage items, 

merchandise, or VIP tickets that should 

be considered in pricing and revenue 

planning? 

Pricing must reflect fair value and 
accessibility. Excessive markups will not be 
permitted. 

190 

What marketing assets, if any, will be 

provided in support of the events 

(digital advertising, print materials, 

billboard space, paid media budget, 

etc.)?  

ESD is not looking for a full marketing plan at 
this stage. Vendors should outline their 
capabilities and, if applicable, who they 
would partner with to deliver marketing and 
promotion. ESD may provide limited assets 
such as brand guidelines and access to 
owned channels. Vendors should budget for 
marketing execution as part of their scope. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

191 

What marketing responsibilities are 

expected to be covered by the vendor's 

budget versus state provided 

resources? 

ESD is not looking for a full marketing plan at 
this stage. Vendors should outline their 
capabilities and, if applicable, who they 
would partner with to deliver marketing and 
promotion. ESD may provide limited assets 
such as brand guidelines and access to 
owned channels. Vendors should budget for 
marketing execution as part of their scope. 

192 

What city/county/state services will 

be provided in support of the events 

versus what the vendor must secure 

and budget for?  

 

Specifically:  

• Public works support (traffic 

management, barricades, signage)  

• Fire department services and 

approval processes  

• Police/law enforcement presence 

and security coordination 

• EMS/medical services  

• Waste management and cleanup 

service 

Public agencies may provide support, but 

vendors should budget for private services 

including waste, security, and EMS. ESD will 

coordinate state and local assets as appropriate. 

 

193 

While we understand private security 

is part of the budget, are there state or 

local assets that will be provided to 

support these experiences? 

Public agencies may provide support, but 
vendors should budget for private services 
including waste, security, and EMS. ESD will 
coordinate state and local assets as 
appropriate. 

194 

Have the specific event dates, times, 

and FIFA match broadcast schedule 

already been determined?  

 

The quantity and timing of matches are 

critical to the development of a run of 

show for a successful viewing 

experience. 

Match schedules will be confirmed by ESD. 

Vendors should plan for rain-or-shine events 

with contingencies included in the budget. 

 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

195 

Can ESD confirm these events will 

proceed rain or shine, or are there 

weather-related contingency 

expectations that should be included in 

planning and budgeting? 

Match schedules will be confirmed by ESD. 
Vendors should plan for rain-or-shine events 
with contingencies included in the budget. 

195 

Are these viewing experiences 

included in existing FIFA World Cup 

sponsorship agreements, or is there 

opportunity to secure independent 

event sponsors? 

Independent sponsorships may be pursued 
with ESD approval, provided there is no 
conflict with FIFA or State agreements. Sales 
of official FIFA merchandise require 
appropriate licensing. 

197 

Are there any restrictions on corporate 

partnerships or sponsor activations 

that would conflict with official FIFA 

World Cup sponsors or New York State 

partnerships?  

Independent sponsorships may be pursued 
with ESD approval, provided there is no 
conflict with FIFA or State agreements. Sales 
of official FIFA merchandise require 
appropriate licensing. 

198 

Will the viewing experiences be 

licensed to sell official FIFA 

merchandise, or is there opportunity to 

include a certified FIFA merchandise 

component as part of the event 

offerings?  

 

If merchandise sales are permitted, 

what approval processes or licensing 

requirements need to be factored into 

planning and budgeting? 

Independent sponsorships may be pursued with 

ESD approval, provided there is no conflict 

with FIFA or State agreements. Sales of official 

FIFA merchandise require appropriate 

licensing. 

 

199 
How many VIP's should we be 
planning for? 
 

Final VIP numbers will be provided closer to 
the event. Vendors should assume a modest 
but defined allocation. 

200 

Can we assume that we are to provide 
a satellite truck at each location and 
the feed would be provided by Others? 
 

Vendors may be asked to provide technical 
infrastructure such as satellite trucks. Rights 
and feeds remain with FIFA and broadcast 
partners. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

201 
Does the two existing venues that are 
planned for the events have any existing 
fencing/security perimeter? 

Site perimeters, fencing, and security will 
depend on venue selection. Vendors should 
propose approaches. 

202 

 
Do the venues have any existing 
fiber/ISDN lines on-site for access to 
internet, if so, can you provide the 
specs?  If not is there an exclusive IT 
provider we have to use at each venue 
based on any existing contracts? 

 

Vendors should assess connectivity needs. 
Dedicated fiber or IT providers may be 
required, coordinated after site confirmation. 

203 

 
For the viewing parties, confirming you 
already have the rights to broadcast the 
games to a large viewing party from the 
broadcaster or does that still need to be 
secured? 

 

Broadcast rights are managed by FIFA and 
broadcasters. Vendors should plan for 
presentation only. 

204 

Do you anticipate the broadcaster 
conducting live remotes on-site that would 
require extra fiber access and production 
vehicles? 

 

Broadcasters may elect to conduct live 
remotes. Vendors should be prepared to 
coordinate technical needs if requested. 

205 
How many days are the venues currently 
on hold or contracted for related to the 
start date for load in to end of load out? 

Site holds and contracted dates will be 
finalized after award. Vendors should plan 
for load-in and load-out within event 
schedules. 

206 

 
Do we have to plan for additional off-site 
parking areas for fans to park and have 
shuttles operating to get to and from the 
venue viewing area? 
 

Vendors should assume responsibility for 
off-site parking and shuttles if required, in 
coordination with local authorities. 

207 

Which game(s) are the viewing parties 
for? Group stage v. knockout?  
 
Same day as the NY/NJ games or different? 

Specific matches for each event will be 
determined by ESD in consultation with 
partners. Vendors should assume 
programming across full match days. 



 

 

No. Question Answer 

208 

Will the watch party last for the entire day 
of matches or for a select window? 

 

Specific matches for each event will be 

determined by ESD in consultation with 

partners. Vendors should assume programming 

across full match days. 

 

 


